2008

Kipp Cabaness, an individual, and Does 1-20 v.
Brent Thomas, an individual; Clifford C. Michaelis,
an individual; Bountiful City, a Municipal
Corporation, Bountiful City Power, and Does
1-100 : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an appeal from orders and judgment of the Second District Court, which is a court of record, and the Court of Appeals does not have original appellate jurisdiction, so this Court has jurisdiction over this matter under Utah Code Ann. § 78A-3-102(3)(j).

STATEMENT OF ISSUES AND STANDARDS OF REVIEW

I. Did the district court err in ruling that Defendant Thomas' actions were not sufficiently extreme and outrageous to support a claim of intentional infliction of emotional distress, where, as Plaintiff Kipp Cabaness' ("Kipp") supervisor at Bountiful Power, Thomas (a) ridiculed and demeaned him, (b) intentionally pressured him and his crew to shortcut safety procedures, (c) threatened to terminate them for his own enjoyment, (d) required them unnecessarily to perform dangerous work in hazardous conditions, (e) required one of Kipp's crew to risk his life by using a jackhammer to remove concrete from a conduit of energized primary electrical distributor lines, (f) kneed an employee in the groin in Kipp's presence, (g) publicly disparaged Kipp and others frequently about their personal and confidential issues to break them down mentally, (h) specifically targeted Kipp at an employee meeting following his return from 6 weeks of medical absence, knowing of his fragile emotional health, and (i) 13 of 15 Bountiful employees quit between summer 2003 and spring 2004, citing Thomas' abuse as the sole reason?

This issue was preserved in the trial court. Pl.’s Mem. Opp. Defs.’ Mot. Summ. J. at Pl.’s Statement of Facts Nos. 13-28, 31-36, 41-46, 54-55, 63, (R. at 2346-50, 2352-81, 2420-22, 3641-46, 3657-59, 4006).

Standard of Review: Correctness. *Salt Lake City Mission v. Salt Lake City*, 2008 UT 31, ¶ 5; *Anderson Dev. Co. v. Tobias*, 2005 UT 36, ¶ 19.

II. Did the district court err in ruling that sections 406, 408, and 508 of the City’s Employee Manual failed to create an implied contract between Kipp and the City, where (a) Kipp knew of those provisions prohibiting hostile working conditions and expected the City to comply with them, (b) Kipp considered those sections to be a contract or agreement, (c) the City used and followed the Manual’s provisions for terminating and disciplining employees, (d) Defendants produced no evidence of the City’s argument made for the first time at oral argument that those provisions merely stated policies, goals, and warnings, and (e) the Manual’s limited disclaimer stated only that “[n]o contract exists between Bountiful City and its employees *with respect to salary, salary ranges, movement with[in] salary ranges, or employee benefits,*” without disclaiming or limiting its provisions or promises related to working conditions?

This issue was preserved in the trial court. (R. at 1380-81, 2382-88, 3654-55, 4000-05, 4096-4104, 4145-46, 4149-51, 4385-93).

Standard of Review: Correctness. *Salt Lake City Mission*, 2008 UT 31 at ¶ 5.

III. Did the trial court err in excluding the affidavits of Kenneth Mears and Bonnie Quinn as untimely, where (a) the City asserted for the first time at oral argument that it intended the Manual only as a statement of policies, goals, and warnings, (b) the

City had not argued the issue of intent in any of its memoranda nor submitted any supporting evidence, but had argued in its memoranda only (i) governmental immunity and (ii) that the Manual's limited disclaimer prevented formation of a contract, and (c) Kipp did not produce the affidavits earlier because the issue had not been raised?

This issue was preserved in the trial court. (R. at 4564-65).

Standard of Review: Abuse of discretion. *Daines v. Vincent*, 2008 UT 51, ¶ 21.

IV. Did the trial court err in holding that Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-10(2) bars Kipp's claim for breach of implied contract and the covenant of good faith and fair dealing because "the alleged injury arose out of the alleged infliction of mental anguish"?

This issue was preserved in the trial court. (R. at 2388-90, 3578, 3622-24, 3630, 3638-39, 3655, 4380-85).

Standard of Review: Correctness. *Salt Lake City Mission*, 2008 UT 31 at ¶5.

V. Did the trial court err when it determined that, since there was no implied contract, there could be no covenant of good faith and fair dealing and, therefore, refused to address whether emotional distress damages were recoverable under claims for breach of implied contract and the covenant of good faith and fair dealing?

This issue was preserved below. (R. at 2382-88, 2409-14, 3638, 3655, 4000-05).

Standard of Review: Correctness. *Salt Lake City Mission*, 2008 UT 31 at ¶ 5.

VI. Did the district court err when it ruled that Kipp's wrongful termination claim was a tort barred by the Governmental Immunity Act rather than a contract action?

This issue was preserved below. (R. at 2388-97, 3638-40, 3655-56, 4380-85).

Standard of Review: Correctness. *Salt Lake City Mission*, 2008 UT 31 at ¶ 5.

VII. Did the district court err when it held that Kipp’s wrongful termination claim was duplicative of his claims for breaches of implied contract and the covenant of good faith and fair dealing where, in addition to sections 406, 408, and 508, the City failed to comply with sections 101, 105, 601-04, and 701 of its Manual?

This issue was preserved in the trial court. (R. at 3402-08, 3640, 3656, 3742).

Standard of Review: Correctness. *Salt Lake City Mission*, 2008 UT 31 at ¶ 5.

CONSTITUTIONAL OR STATUTORY PROVISIONS

Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-3 (2003): *See Addendum..*

Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-5 (2003): *See Addendum.*

Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-10 (2003): *See Addendum.*

Bountiful City Personnel

Policies & Procedures Manual

§§ 101, 105, 406, 408, 508, 601-604, 701: *See Addendum.*

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiff Kipp Cabaness (“Kipp”) appeals the trial court’s (i) summary judgment ruling for Bountiful City and its employees, (ii) denial of Kipp’s Cross Motion for Summary Judgment, and (iii) denial of Kipp’s motion under Utah R.Civ.P. 59 and 60(b).

This action arises from Bountiful Power Superintendent Brent Thomas’ extended and pervasive abuse of Kipp. Thomas created a hostile work environment by intimidating and bullying Bountiful Power employees into shortcutting safety procedures and performing unsafe acts. Bountiful Power Director Clifford Michaelis condoned Thomas’ abusive conduct, and, when Kipp and others complained, he threatened to terminate them. Thomas’ abusive conduct, in combination with the stressful nature of Kipp’s work

on potentially lethal high-voltage lines, severely damaged Kipp's mental health and caused him severe and undisputed mental and physical injuries.

Kipp commenced this action seeking economic and non-economic damages for (i) Defendants' breaches of the City Employee Manual's implied contract mandating working conditions that are free of hostility, intimidation, and abuse, (ii) breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing inherent in those provisions, (iii) constructive and wrongful termination, and (iv) intentional infliction of emotional distress.

The City moved for summary judgment, arguing that a limited disclaimer in the Manual prevented formation of an implied contract, and that Utah's Governmental Immunity Act barred an action seeking damages for mental anguish.

Kipp filed a cross-motion for summary judgment, arguing that: (i) the Manual created an implied contract between the City and its employees, (ii) the City owed him a contractual duty to prevent harassment and abuse by his supervisor, (iii) consequential damages for that breach of contract included emotional distress damages, (iv) Kipp either complied with the City's internal grievance and appeals procedures or was excused from doing so, and (v) Kipp's intentional infliction of emotional distress claim was an ongoing injury resulting from a continuing and unfolding pattern of abusive conduct.

Following briefing on these motions, the City argued for the first time at oral argument that it did not intend the Manual to be a contract. However, the City produced no evidence to support that argument.

The trial court erroneously reasoned that, in filing cross motions for summary judgment, the parties had stipulated that all the necessary facts to rule on the existence of

an implied contract were before it—despite Defendants’ concession at oral argument that the existence of an implied contract is an issue of fact for the jury. The trial court granted summary judgment, holding that the Manual created neither an implied contract nor a covenant of good faith and fair dealing, the Governmental Immunity Act barred Kipp’s wrongful termination and intentional infliction of emotional distress claims, and Thomas’ actions did not rise to the level of extreme and outrageous conduct sufficient to support a claim of intentional infliction of emotional distress. The trial court discounted evidence of (i) Thomas’ abusive disregard of human life when on July 30, 2003 he ordered one of Kipp’s crew members to perform a life-threatening act and (ii) another incident on September 9, 2003, when Kipp returned to work from a medical absence for work-induced depression and Thomas, knowing his mental vulnerability, publicly singled him out, threatened to fire him, and ridiculed him about personal and confidential issues in front of all employees. Rather than construing the evidence of these incidents in a light most favorable to Kipp, the trial court improperly dismissed them.

Kipp filed a Rule 59 and 60(b) motion for relief from the trial court’s ruling, with affidavits from former City employees Bonnie Quinn and Kenneth Mears, who were involved in creating and enforcing the Manual, testifying that the City Manager and City Attorney had said that the City intended it to be a binding agreement, and that the City had treated it as such, and an affidavit from psychologist Rick Hawks analyzing the damaging effect of the September 9, 2003. The court struck the Quinn and Mears affidavits and denied that motion. This appeal ensued.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. Beginning March 29, 1978, Defendant Bountiful City (“the City”), specifically, Bountiful Light & Power Company (“Bountiful Power”), employed Kipp Cabaness (“Kipp”), who became a foreman for one of the City’s three power line crews from August 1, 1984, through January 2, 2004. Aff. K. Cabaness at ¶ 4 (R. at 1381).

2. For at least the last 15 years of Kipp’s employment, Defendant Clifford Michaelis was Director of Bountiful Power, and Defendant Brent Thomas was Superintendent of Operations. *Id.* at ¶ 11 (R. at 1382).

3. Thomas never has been a certified journeyman line worker, in contrast to the foremen, including Kipp, who is certified as such. Dep. Thomas at 45:8-46:15, 52:17-53:4 (R. at 1419-20); Dep. Michaelis at 21:12-22 (R. at 1842).

4. The City’s Personnel Policies & Procedures Manual (“the Manual”) promises and represents in §§ 406, 408, and 508 that harassment, threats, and intimidation will not be tolerated, nor will a hostile work environment. *See* Addendum, Manual at §§ 406 (R. at 1590), 408 (R. at 1592-93), 508 (R. at 1604-07).

5. The Manual expressly disclaims creating any type of contract “with respect to salary, salary ranges, movement with[in] salary ranges, or employee benefits,” but it makes no such disclaimer regarding the mandate in §§ 406, 408, and 508’s of a work environment free of hostility, intimidation, and abuse. Manual at §101 (R. at 1565).

6. Kipp believed the City had an obligation to comply with those provisions, Aff. K. Cabaness at ¶ 10, (R. at 1381), §§ 406, 408, and 508 (R. at 1590-93, 1604-07), and, as Director, Michaelis was responsible to implement the Manual, including its

promises that the City would not tolerate harassment, intimidation and ridicule of employees by supervisors or others. Dep. Michaelis (R. at 1861).

7. In violation of those Manual provisions, Thomas created a hostile work environment through harassment, demeaning comments, and other abuse of the workers he supervised, including Kipp, and Michaelis knowingly tolerated and condoned that abuse. Aff. K. Cabaness (R. at 1382-83), Aff. Hatch (R. at 1947), Aff. Hutchings (R. at 1952-53), Aff. Tuttle at 10-15 (R. at 1939-41), Dep. D. Farnes (R. at 1508-12, 1514-22, 1528); Dep. Gines (R. at 2172, 2175-78); Dep. A. Farnes (R. at 1546-47, 1550, 1554); Dep. Bellon (R. at 1752-60, 1782-83); Aff. Knighton at ¶¶ 7-9, 15, 18, 23 (R. at 2211).

8. Former City employee Kenneth Mears, who was involved in creating and enforcing the manual, testified:

Both the City Manager and the City Attorney advised me and the other members of [the committee that wrote and edited provisions of the Manual] that all of the provisions of the Manual including ... those provisions for Work Environment, Work Place Violence, for Sexual and Other Harassment, Employee Safety, ... Standards of Conduct, Disciplinary Action, and termination would be implemented and enforced by City management personnel, for the protection and benefit of City employees, and that a City employee could be terminated for a violation of those provisions as provided in Sections 500 (Standards of Conduct) *et seq.* and Section 600 *et seq.* (disciplinary action) of the Manual. I was also advised by the City Manager and the City Attorney that management personnel were obligated to implement and enforce all of the provisions of the Manual, for the protection and benefit of all of the City employees, and that a failure of management personnel to comply with this obligation would be grounds for termination of that individual.

Aff. Mears at ¶ 14 (R. at 4144) (offered at 4140, stricken at 4564-65).

9. Kipp daily worked with hazardous and potentially lethal power lines, under Thomas' pressure to perform quickly and shortcut safety measures, which exacerbated

the hostile and abusive work environment Thomas created. Aff. Hawks at ¶¶ 8-19 (R. at 3906-10); Report Hawks at ¶¶ II.A.6., 7., and Observations 3-5 (R. at 3895-96, 3901).

10. “The danger associated with the unsafe work environment substantially influenced [Kipp’s] depression and related emotional concerns to worsen during the last few years of his employment.” Report Hawks at Observation 4 (R. at 3901).

11. Thomas’ abuse took multiple forms, all of which were intended to manipulate and control Kipp psychologically, often at the expense of his safety:

12. Thomas constantly used verbal harassment, abuse, intimidation, ridicule and gross profanity to manipulate and control power company employees through their emotions and break them down mentally. Aff. Knighton at ¶¶ 10, 15 (R. at 2213-14); Dep. D. Farnes 69:4-14, 72:10-73:13 (R. at 1519).

13. Using profanity and cutting sarcasm, Thomas insulted and demeaned Kipp throughout his entire career, calling him “dumbass,” “jackass,” and “shit for brains.” (R. at 2120, 2128); Report Hawks at ¶¶ II.A.6 (page 5) (R. at 3893).

14. Thomas even verbally abused Kipp and other linemen over the radio, to the point where, sometime in the late 1990s, a dispatcher, Richard Pierce, asked Thomas why he treated them so badly. Thomas responded with more profanity, and an unusually graphic obscene gesture. Dep. Cabaness at 72:9-73:16 (R. at 2129).

15. To belittle Kipp and his crew, Thomas repeatedly ordered them to perform unnecessary, laborious, and even hazardous tasks, solely to exercise power over them, threatening to fire them if they did not obey. *Id.* at 36:1-38:22 (R. at 2120-21); Aff. Knighton at ¶ 10 (R. at 2213); Aff. Hatch at ¶ 19 (R. at 1948).

16. For example, sometime during the 1990s, after a car hit a power pole, all three crews responded, and, under the direction of the three foremen, were safely setting a new pole into the ground and restoring power while managing traffic. However, when Thomas arrived, he intentionally created unnecessary and dangerous tension by screaming at everyone to stop working and senselessly ordered them to re-arrange the trucks, pounding on his chest and saying "I'm the captain," after which the foremen had to settle everybody down so they could safely finish the dangerous task of getting the power lines restored. Dep. Cabaness at 36:1-38:22. (R. at 2120 [reverse side]).

17. On another occasion in the late 1990s or 2000, Kipp's and foreman Steve Knighton's crews were installing underground electrical lines at Bountiful High School. The foremen were supervising the job and had positioned the trucks and equipment correctly when Thomas arrived and ordered Kipp to needlessly switch the locations of the two trucks and pull the wire from the reverse side, just to make the crews obey him and do additional work. When Knighton asked Thomas why he was making them move the trucks and equipment that already had been positioned properly, Thomas told him and Kipp that he was their boss, and if they didn't do it his way, he would create a paper trail and fire them. *Id.* at 43:2-45:17 (R. at 2122); Dep. Bellon at 33:25-36:12 (R. at 1758-61).

18. Also in 2000 or 2001, Kipp and his crew were building a new mile-long transmission line, which involved first putting each pole on a stand and "framing" it by installing the insulators before setting it into the ground. Kipp and his crew had a pole framed and were about to set it into the ground, when Thomas needlessly ordered them to disassemble it and then frame another, identical pole to set in its place, just to make Kipp

and his crew do additional work. Dep. Cabaness at 53:14-55:4 (R. at 2125).

19. As another example of intentionally belittling employees, Thomas dumped out a bin of tools from Brent Tuttle's work truck, scattered them onto the floor, and ordered Tuttle to pick them up. *Id.* at 85:5-19. (R. at 2133).

20. Thomas also tried to create tension and animosity by turning the crews against each other. For example, in fall of 2003, after a crew had replaced an underground electrical conduit that had been located incorrectly, when the crews returned to the warehouse, Thomas blamed Tuttle for making a mistake and asked Kipp if he liked having to redo Tuttle's work; when Tuttle apologized, Thomas angrily told him he had a bad attitude and threatened to write him up for it. *Id.* at 39:11 to 41:1. (R. at 2121-22).

21. Thomas, for his own amusement, frequently threatened to fire employees to intimidate them, remind them that he could control them, and create fear and tension. Aff. Tuttle at ¶¶11-12, 16 (R. at 1941-42); Aff. Knighton at ¶¶ 10-11 (R. at 2213); Dep. D. Farnes at 32:13-18, 79:3-80:15 (R. at 1509, 1521).

22. On one occasion in the latter part of 1996 or early 1997, Thomas walked up to a new employee, Don Hatfield, and said, "You're fired!" just to scare him and watch his reaction. Dep. Cabaness at 77:16-78:2 (R. at 2131); Aff. Hatch at ¶ 19 (R. at 1948); Dep. D. Farnes at 29:20-31:19 (R. at 1521).

23. Thomas regularly told Kipp, "You are lucky to have this job. If you don't do what you are told, we can fire you," (R. at 2118-19), and criticized him publicly about personal and confidential issues to humiliate and belittle him. Aff. Knighton at ¶10 (R. at 2213); Dep. D. Farnes at 41:8-42:21; 81:10-82:8 (R. at 1512, 1522).

24. In 2003, Thomas told Kipp, “You know what your problem is? It’s your wife. You need to get rid of your wife.” Kipp tried to change the subject, but Thomas kept repeating that statement. Dep. Cabaness at 67:18-69:9 (R. at 2128).

25. Thomas also abused employees physically in front of Kipp and others, including in 1999 when he kneed Steve Hutchings in the groin with such force that he dropped to the floor, reeling in pain, after which Thomas said, “I guess I showed you who is boss.” *Id.* at 84:5-85:2 (R. at 2132-33); Aff. Hutchings at ¶ 7 (R. at 1952); Aff. Tuttle at ¶ 14 (R. at 1941); Dep. D. Farnes at 28:11-29:19 (R. at 1508).

26. Thomas intentionally and cavalierly ordered Kipp and other employees to perform unsafe acts. For example, in 1983, when Kipp was working on a pole with a primary line of 7,200 volts, Kipp wanted to ground it before going up the pole to work, which is the safe procedure. However, Thomas told Kipp there was not time and made him go up the pole and work on it anyway. Kipp received a painful and anxiety-producing shock that scared him badly because he knew he could have been killed. Dep. Cabaness at 81:11-82:3 (R. at 2132); Report Hawks at ¶¶ II.A.7 (R. at 3895-96).

27. When a transformer caught fire at the hospital and was still smoking when the crews arrived, Thomas just tapped it with his knuckle and told Kipp and his crew, “All right, it’s not hot, you guys are all right. Open the door and start doing your work in there,” when he knew it unsafe to do so. Dep. Cabaness at 78:9-79:6 (R. at 2131).

28. During the late 1990s, when Kipp and the crews were working at 500 West and 2600 South, they had to kill the power, “breaking the load” by removing three old fuses, but lacked the right safety equipment. Nonetheless, Thomas ordered Gary Hatch to

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