2008

# Kipp Cabaness v. Brent Thomas, Clifford C. Michaelis, Bountiful City : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

<sup>10</sup>Significantly, Ms. Quinn was a former disgruntled City employee who was fired by the City for embezzling City funds, and who subsequently pled guilty to felony criminal charges stemming from her embezzlement. (R. 826, 2431-2435).

evidence there is a reasonable likelihood of a different result. *See, e.g., Barson v. E.R. Squibb & Sons, Inc.*, 682 P.2d 832, 841 (Utah 1984); Utah R. Civ. P. 59(a)(4).<sup>11</sup>

Cabaness failed to meet his substantial burden of showing that this evidence could not have been discovered prior to the filing of his post-trial motions.<sup>12</sup> To justify the late filing of these Affidavits, Cabaness argues that he did not present them earlier because he was unaware of defendants' argument that the provisions of the Manual did not create an implied contract until July 26, 2006, the first day of hearings on the summary judgment motions. (R. 4181-4182 at ¶¶ 5-7). Cabaness, however, had been put on notice that this was appellees' position when they filed their Answer herein and denied the allegation in the Complaint that the provisions of the Manual "created an implied employment contract between" Cabaness and the City.<sup>13</sup> (R. 6 at ¶ 24; R. 30 at ¶ 24). Furthermore, proving the

---

<sup>11</sup>Granting a new trial based on newly discovered evidence in only limited circumstances serves the judicial policy of finality by encouraging parties to fully investigate and present their cases at the appropriate time, during pretrial discovery and at trial. *Cf. Amica Mut. Ins. Co. v. Schettler*, 768 P.2d 950, 969 (Utah Ct. App. 1989). Thus, it is essential that parties seeking a new trial on the basis of newly discovered evidence meet the due diligence component of the rule, "[n]o matter how material or beneficial the [evidence would be] on a new trial." *See ProMax Dev. Corp. v. Mattson*, 943 P.2d 247, 253 (Utah Ct. App. 1997) (quotation & citation omitted). "[W]hen it appears that the degree of activity or inquiry which led to the discovery of a witness or evidence after trial would have produced the same evidence had it been exercised prior thereto, due diligence has not been exercised." *Id.* at 254.

<sup>12</sup>Cabaness was well aware of Ms. Quinn at least two years earlier, inasmuch as he had her sign an Affidavit on his behalf which he filed in July of 2005. (R. 725-731).

<sup>13</sup>Even if Cabaness first became aware at the summary judgment hearing that appellees were claiming the Manual did not create an implied contract, he still could have exercised due diligence to raise the issue at that time. Significantly, there were three different hearings on the summary judgment motions over a three-week period—July 26, August 10, and August 17, 2006. Cabaness certainly had sufficient time to procure and produce the Quinn and Mears Affidavits during this three-week period. Cabaness could have also advised the Court that he was caught by surprise and asked for additional time to brief the

existence of an implied contract is an essential element of Cabaness' claim, for which he bears the burden of proof without the benefit of any presumption.

In addition, pursuant to the legal standard set forth in footnote 5, above, the key testimony stricken in these Affidavits was inadmissible because it was conclusory, lacked foundation, and merely reflected the affiant's unsubstantiated conclusions, without stating facts based upon personal knowledge. For example, this is true of Quinn's affirmations that the Manual was designed for her benefit and protection as an employee, and that the Manual constituted an agreement between the City and its employees (R. 4170-4171 at ¶¶ 12, 14), as well as Mears' statements that he made a good faith effort to make recommendations to the Manual that would protect City employees (R. 4163 at ¶ 11), and that he would have objected and refused to serve on a committee if he had known that the City thought the Manual's provisions were unenforceable goals (R. 4165 at ¶ 15).

#### **4. The Utah Cases Cited by Cabaness Are Distinguishable.**

Significantly, there are no Utah cases which have expanded the implied employment contract theory to encompass an employer's policies which identify and prohibit misconduct and the cases cited by Cabaness to support his argument are distinguishable. For example, *Berube v. Fashion Centre, Ltd.*, 771 P.2d 1033 (Utah 1989) and *Brehany v. Nordstrom, Inc.*, 812 P.2d 49 (Utah 1991) both dealt with the issue of whether an employee manual limited the employer's right to terminate at-will employees. Indeed, this Court in *Brehany* stated that, "when it is plain that a manual or bulletin does not limit the right to discharge at will, the

---

issue and submit the affidavits in question. While appellees would have opposed the request, at least the issue could have been dealt with at that stage of the proceedings, instead of months later after judgment had been entered.

case need not go to a jury.” *Id.* at 56. While the Court in *Canfield v. Layton City*, 2005 UT 60, 122 P.3D 622, stated that “a municipal employer may create an implied contract through its personnel policies,” that case dealt with an employee who claimed her termination violated written policies because the discipline she received was not proportionate to her offense, nor was it uniform with how other employees were treated. *Id.* at ¶¶ 3, 22, 24.

Here, of course, Cabaness was not an “at-will” employee. The City did not fire him, nor did it ever take any disciplinary action against him. Rather, Cabaness quit his job with the City in order to go to work for another city. Moreover, though appropriate pre- and post-termination due process and grievance procedures were available to Cabaness, he never filed a grievance with the City Manager, nor did he appeal his purported “constructive” termination. Thus, the cases cited by Cabaness are unavailing.

Moreover, the conclusion that the subject provisions of the Manual do not create an implied contract is supported by the weight of case law in other jurisdictions. *See Demasse v. ITT Corp.*, 984 P.2d 1138, 1143 (Ariz. 1999) (“If the statement is merely a description of the employer’s present policies . . . it is neither a promise nor a statement that could reasonably be relied upon as a commitment”); *Litton v. Maverick Paper Co.*, 388 F.Supp.2d 1261, 1293 (D.Kan. 2005) (provisions of an employee handbook regarding the reporting of harassment was not sufficient as a matter of law to establish an implied contract of employment); *Gally v. Columbia University*, 22 F.Supp.2d 199, 208 (S.D.N.Y. 1998) (a provision in a code of conduct which provided “all students should receive fair and equal treatment” held not to create a separate and independent contract obligation).

## **5. Cabaness Misstates The Record Below.**

In an effort to salvage his implied contract claims, Cabaness incorrectly asserts that:



(1) appellees' counsel conceded that the issue of whether an implied contract exists is a fact question for the jury; and (2) the trial court "incorrectly assumed *sua sponte*, and without justification, that the parties had agreed that all of the necessary facts on the implied contract issue were before the court . . . ." (Aplt. Brief at 40). Both statements are unsupported by the record.

First, Cabaness has mischaracterized the statement of appellees' counsel. The transcripts of the hearing demonstrate that appellees' counsel stated that, while courts have held as a matter of law that there was **not** an implied contract, they have generally not held as a matter of law that there **is** an implied contract because there are generally issues of fact for a jury to decide in that circumstance. (R. 4091-4093 at 3-5). This statement is consistent with the legal principle that the threshold question of whether there is an implied contract (absent ambiguous terms that raise a question of fact) is a question of law for the court. *See Caldwell v. Ford, Bacon & Davis Utah, Inc.*, 777 P.2d 483, 486 (Utah 1989); *Manning v. Cigna Corp.*, 807 F.Supp. 889, 893 (D. Conn. 1991).

Second, the trial court expressly stated in its Memorandum Decision, that both sides agreed that the Court had before it "all of the facts necessary to determine whether a contract exists between plaintiff and the City based on the above-referenced provisions in the Manual." (R. 3637). Since Cabaness has failed to include the full transcripts of the summary judgment hearings in the record, he cannot demonstrate that this statement by the trial court is inaccurate. The trial court noted that, since both sides had moved for summary judgment on this issue, it was an "indication" to the trial court "that the parties do not believe there are material issues of disputed fact which would preclude the Court from ruling on whether the Manual did create a contract between the City and plaintiff." *Id.* This observation does not

constitute an abuse of discretion and is supported by applicable case law.<sup>14</sup> See *Mastic Tile Division of Ruberoid Co. v. Acme Distributing Co.*, 389 P.2d 56, 57 (Utah 1964) (when both sides of matter lay a decision in the lap of the court by their mutual motions for summary judgment, and unequivocally invite and authorize the court to decide the case by interpreting the documents, the court should not be required to submit to the subsequent urging of the loser that although he took his chances without reservation, he must have another go at the case).

Finally, since there is no implied contract, Cabaness has no claim for breach of an implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing. See *Heideman v. Washington City*, 2007 UT App 11, ¶ 27 n. 15, 155 P.3d 900 (“because there was no contract, there was necessarily no breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing”).

In summation, this Court has held that, unless the contract terms are ambiguous and raise factual issues, the proper construction of a contract’s terms is an issue of law to be decided by the court. See *Caldwell*, 777 P.2d at 486. “The court retains the power to decide whether, as a matter of law, a reasonable jury could find that an implied contract exists.” *Ryan v. Dan’s Food Stores, Inc.* 972 P.2d 395, 401 (Utah 1998) (quoting *Sanderson v. First Sec. Leasing Co.*, 844 P.2d 303, 306 (Utah 1992)). Applying this legal standard to this case, the trial court correctly found the Manual is not ambiguous, and correctly concluded as a matter of law that no reasonable jury could find that the subject provisions created an implied contract.

---

<sup>14</sup>The trial court specifically stated that there was no ambiguity in the relevant provisions of the Manual, and it also correctly noted that the Manual’s clear and conspicuous disclaimer at §101(b) “precludes the existence of a contract as to any items or rights identified in said disclaimer.” (R. 3654). “Employee benefits” is one of the rights identified in the disclaimer, which encompasses working conditions.

## B. THE IMMUNITY ACT BARS CABANESS' CONTRACT CLAIMS.

Alternatively, as the trial court found, Cabaness' implied contract claims are barred by the Immunity Act because they are based on the same conduct that he alleges caused him to suffer emotional distress. It is well established that immunity has **not** been waived for claims that arise out of the infliction of emotional or mental anguish. *See* Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-10(2) (2003).<sup>15</sup> Specifically, the Immunity Act expressly excludes from the waiver of immunity, any claim where the “injury arises out of, in connection with, or results from . . . infliction of mental anguish.” *Id.* Thus, the court in *Atiya v. Salt Lake County*, 852 P.2d 1007 (Utah Ct. App. 1993), noted that § 63-30-10 contained “an explicit exception to the waiver provided for . . . injuries arising out of ‘infliction of mental anguish.’”<sup>16</sup> *Id.* at 1011 n. 6 (emphasis added). Similarly, in *Sauers v. Salt Lake County*, 735 F. Supp. 381, 384 (D. Utah 1990), the court held that “[t]he waiver of governmental immunity . . . does not include injuries which arise out of infliction of mental anguish . . . .”

---

<sup>15</sup>Similar to the intentional infliction of emotional distress claim discussed below, the statute of limitations on implied contracts is four years. *See State of Utah v. Huntington-Cleveland Irrigation Co.*, 2002 UT 75, ¶ 12, 52 P.3d 1257. Thus, only those incidences which occurred from March 31, 2000 to March 31, 2004 (the date Cabaness filed his Notice of Claim) are relevant to the implied contract claim.

<sup>16</sup>Cabaness incorrectly cites *Atiya* as a Utah Supreme Court case, when actually it is a Utah Court of Appeals decision. *See* Aplt.'s Brief at 45. Regardless, in *Atiya*, the court held that the plaintiff's claim for intentional infliction of emotional distress was barred by the Immunity Act. The court, in dicta, further opined that Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-10 applies only to negligent acts and omissions. However, the dicta is not controlling and it conflicts with the list of intentional conduct identified in § 63-30-10, which includes malicious prosecution, intentional trespass, abuse of process, assault, battery, and false imprisonment. This dicta is also contrary to the holding in *Sauers v. Salt Lake County*, *supra*, 735 F. Supp. at 384.

Accordingly, the inquiry here is whether § 63-30-10(2)'s "infliction of mental anguish" exception to the waiver of governmental immunity applies to Cabaness' contract claims. In resolving this issue, it is important to note that the phrase "arises out of" has a much broader meaning than "caused by." *Taylor in re Taylor v. Ogden City Sch. Dist.*, 927 P.2d 159, 163 (Utah 1996). In fact, this Court has explained that the words "arises out of" "are very broad, general and comprehensive. They are commonly understood to mean originating from, growing out of, or flowing from, and require only that there be some causal relationship between the injury and the risk [provided for]." *Id.* (quoting with approval *National Farmers Union Property & Cas. Co. v. Western Cas. & Sur. Co.*, 577 P.2d 961, 963 (Utah 1978)) (alteration in original). Based on this Court's precedent, if the injuries a plaintiff alleges to have suffered originated from, grew out of, or flowed from the infliction of emotional or mental anguish, the claim against a governmental entity is barred because immunity from liability has not been waived. *See id.* Moreover, the infliction of emotional anguish need not be the sole cause of the injury, only that it bear some causal relationship to the injury. *See id.*

Under the Immunity Act, a court is required to look to the conduct that the claim arises out of to determine whether there is a waiver of immunity. This Court has rejected "claims that have reflected attempts to evade the statutory categories by recharacterization of the supposed cause of the injury." *See Ledfors v. Emery County Sch. Dist.*, 849 P.2d 1162, 1166 (Utah 1993). In *Ledfors*, the plaintiffs' son suffered a vicious beating by two students in a gym class which was left unsupervised. *Id.* at 1163. The plaintiffs' lawsuit asserted a battery claim against the two students, and a negligence claim against the school district, the principal and the physical education teacher. The Court found that immunity had been retained under the exception to the waiver and found that § 63-30-10(2) of the Act specifically provided that

suit is not allowed against a governmental entity if the underlying “injury . . . arises out of” an assault or battery. *Id.* The Court concluded that the injuries suffered by the plaintiffs’ son arose out of a battery which specifically exempted the governmental entity from suit. *See id.* at 1166. The plaintiffs then argued that the alleged injuries arose from the failure to supervise rather than from the battery. *See id.* In answering this argument this Court stated:

Again, our prior cases have looked to whether the injury asserted “arose out of” conduct or a situation specifically described in one of the subparts of 63-30-10; if it did, then immunity is preserved. We have rejected claims that have reflected attempts to evade these statutory categories by recharacterizing the supposed cause of the injury.

*Id.*

The court in *Butler, Crockett & Walsh Dev. Corp. v. Salt Lake County*, 2005 UT App 402 (per curiam unpublished decision) reached a similar conclusion. There, the court dismissed a contract-based claim against a public entity on the grounds that the injury arose out of conduct for which governmental immunity is preserved. In *Butler*, the plaintiff filed a breach of contract claim based on Salt Lake County’s denial of a conditional use permit. The court concluded that the “complaint as a whole demonstrates that the underlying harm was the denial of the CUP,” and it further noted that immunity has not been waived under the Immunity Act for denial of a permit or license pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-10(3). *Id.* at ¶ 1. Thus, the court held that the contract claim was barred by the Immunity Act “[b]ecause the injury arose out of conduct or a situation specifically described in one of the subparts of Utah Code section 63-30-10, governmental immunity is preserved.” *Id.*

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